FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/5/2024 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case #: 1033222

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Review of Division II Cause 57601-5 22-2-02806-34 Before the Honorable Judge Wilson Thurston County

Joe Patrick Flarity, a marital community v.
Unknown Officials, in their official and personal capacities, State of Washington, Et Al.

# PETITION TO REVIEW—57601-5-II AMENDED

DIVISION II'S UNPUBLISHED DECISION CONFIRMING FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM AND ASSIGNING SANCTIONS

PRESENTED TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Joe Flarity, a marital community
Pro Se Appellant
101 FM 946 S
Oakhurst, TX 77359

# **

#### 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Comes Joe Patrick Flarity, a pro se marital community, hereafter Flarity. All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted. Meaning no disrespect to any party, titles are removed to save word count. Emphasis added is our own unless otherwise noted. Flarity currently resides at the following address:

101 FM 946 S Oakhurst, TX 77359 piercefarmer@yahoo.com (253) 951 9981

### 2. DECISION TO REVIEW

Flarity moves the Panel to reverse a "shameful" Div. II decision defying numerous precedents and bolstering the "power of the sovereign" by projecting that the State Constitution is "not only useless, but a silly thing." Div. II issued its Order without waiting on the Commissioner's ruling for Mrs. Joe Flarity's Motion to Bifurcate, No. 1031491.

#### 3. AUTHORITY FOR PETITION

This Petition is timely because it is within 30 days of their "shameful" decision. The Panel's Order was issued July 2, 2024, **AP-2.** The criteria for RAP 13.4 (b):

<sup>1</sup> Supreme Court's June 4, 2020 letter to lower courts.

<sup>2</sup> Ralph v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 187 Wash.2d 326, 386 P.3d 721 (Wash. 2016).

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The unpublished Order in **AP-2** defies all FOUR of the listed criteria to review.

#### 4. TIMELINESS OF PETITION

The Petition was submitted on August 1, 2024. On August 2, 2024, the Clerk filed a letter rejecting the Petition for being over the 5000 word limit. The word count was recalculated without the tables and resubmitted on August 5, 2024. No other changes were made to the Petition other than this paragraph.

Rules and laws must be fairly interpreted and enforced, otherwise the public is subject to abuse as described in Federalist No. 62. The Supreme Court Clerk takes any Mandate issued, no matter how arbitrary, as preclusion to prevent any Supreme Court review whatsoever. When the people cannot clearly discern when a Mandate

might be issued, the tactic is fairly described as a "made up immunity."

The RAP gives parties thirty days to present a petition for review of a lower court decision.

No. 1032081, in contention now before the Commissioner, describes previous damage to Flarity by this tactic. **AP-11.** With an abundance of caution, this Petition seeks to preclude an additional arbitrary Mandate. This petition is filed concurrently with our Motions to Publish and for Reconsideration still in review at Div. II. Given this history, Flarity is uncertain how Div. II would toll its power to issue the Mandate. **AP-11** also proves Div. II is NOT likely to Recall the Mandate, no matter how improperly issued or the number of precedents it violated. The hasty Order, **AP-2**, demonstrates Div. II's low regard for the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court for pending issues that would directly impact the outcome of the decision.

Clark Nealy at the Cato Institute:

The ACLU's DC chapter expressing the power of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 at the 150 anniversary: "On April 20, 1871, President Ulysses S. Grant signed one of the most important civil rights laws in U.S. history: the Ku Klux Klan Act. Section 1 of that law – known today as 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – empowers individuals to sue state and local government officials who violate their federal constitutional rights....And we continue to fight to ensure that the law isn't watered down with made-up immunities that give a free pass to government officials to violate the Constitution."

<sup>...</sup>it's important to understand that the judiciary really does invent and blatantly misapply various avoidance doctrines to help insure the judges' former colleagues in the other branches rarely have to account for themselves.

## 4. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 4.1 JUSTICE IS NOT POSSIBLE IN A COURT WHERE THE RESULT IS "INEVITABLE"
- 4.2 COURT RETALIATION TO CHILL THE PEOPLE PROTECTING CORE RIGHTS IS CRIMINAL CONDUCT
- 4.3 DIV. II REFUSES TO OBSERVE SUPREME COURT PROTECTION FOR 42 USC § 1983
- 4.4 DIV. II REFUSES TO OBSERVE SUPREME COURT PROTECTION OF PRIVACY
- 4.5 DIV. II REFUSES TO OBSERVE SUPREME COURT PROTECTION OF TIMELY HEARINGS
- 4.6 PROTECTION OF THE INVIOLATE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL, ART 1, SEC. 21.
- 4.7 NATURAL RIGHTS PROTECTION AUTHORIZED BY ART. 1, SEC. 32

#### 5. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Flarity had farmed lots 2 and 3 just outside the city of Buckley since 1994 from land that had been continuously farmed after the Wickersham sawmill closed in 1910. The land is designated a "wildlife corridor." In 2017, Flarity hand built a log barn from scrap cedar timbers on lot 3 while camped on the property in the summer. Despite the lack of power, water, or sewer, Pierce County declared the barn a residence and erroneously listed it's construction as standard stud wall framing. While waiting for the forms to protest this classification, which officials are required to provide, Hurricane Harvey struck our residence in Texas and we returned to repair the extensive damages. Flarity's father's house was also damaged and the stress of repair caused him a debilitating stroke from which he never recovered. Having only one child, Flarity assumed the majority of the responsibility for his care.

During this traumatic period, Pierce County removed the farm tax exemption from both lots, even though Lot 2 remained vacant and in pasture. The Pierce County Board of Equalization (BOE) refused to continue our hearing on the farm status removal. We determined that if the RCW had any legal authority at all, this would be the ideal case to clarify the right to be heard. We moved to North Bend, WA and filed 20-2-16139-0 in King County. This case is now in contention as described before the Supreme Court as No. 1032081, AP-11.

<sup>4</sup> Has the law been made "useless and silly" per *Ralph v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 187 Wash.2d 326, 386 P.3d 721 (Wash. 2016)

Under protest, we paid over \$30,000 to Pierce County in back taxes and penalties for tax year 2017. The next year, we received another large tax bill from Pierce County with large increases to the value of our "residence" and we again protested. The BOE and the Assessor graciously waived their local authority and agreed to a direct review before the Board of Tax Appeals, (BTA). This was accepted and No. 19-105 assigned. The BTA then sat on our case for years and did not move to schedule a hearing until we sold the property and moved back to Texas in 2022. Losing the King County venue put us at a tremendous disadvantage and we filed 22-2-02806-34 in Thurston County to correct the BTA's unconstitutional "methods" demanding infinite delays. Flarity filed to correct improper practices with the belief that no jury would agree Washington has fair due process by contrasting with 20-2-16139-0 where the people are granted ZERO delays. De facto delay tactics have also been shown to impact the mental health of attorneys in general, with Supreme Court involvement at the WSBA in the examination of the extreme suicide rates of attorneys and law students.6

The Panel should also note that Div. II did not grant an Oral hearing before the Order, AP-2, was issued, even though the State did not

<sup>5</sup> *WASHINGTON TRUCKING v. EMPLOYMENT SEC. DEPT*, 393 P.3d 761, 188 Wash. 2d 198 (2017).

*National Task Force on Lawyer Well-Being*, P17: "Practices that rob lawyers of a sense of autonomy and control over their schedules and lives are **especially harmful** to their well-being...**Refusal to permit trial lawyers to extend trial dates to accommodate vacation plans** or scheduling trials shortly after the end of a vacation so that lawyers must work during that time;"

contest our Motion. We show proof that our ability to explore the issues in an Oral hearing is extraordinary for a pro se plaintiff, **AP-23**, where the Commissioner revealed the RAP directions to publish are so confusing that good lawyers often get it wrong, **AP-28**. The removal of the people's right to be heard in an oral argument is a significant reversal towards the dark age of jurisprudence, a time when justice was determined by one's ability to pick an iron from a pot of boiling water.

This disparagement of our core right to be heard as a matter of due process can only continue when courts deny the people our "inviolate" right to a jury trial, per Art. 1, Sec. 21.

### 6. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

## 6.1 AN OVERVIEW OF CORRUPTION

John Rawls, A Theory Of Justice, P4:

...the rights secured by justice are not subject to political bargaining or to the calculus of social interests.

Why do courts refuse to enforce Constitutional rights or observe precedents? Judges may have personal prejudice against a particular plaintiff, or a class plaintiff. They may allow an improper *quid pro quo* arrangement for favored parties. Although the practice is widely condemned, courts often engage in politics and use the power of their position to advance a "campaign." A judge could also abdicate their

responsibility by the "banality of evil," **AP-17**, a condition that Henry David Thoreau described as "expediency."

On the bleaker side, a judge could be afraid of retaliation from powerful administrative officials, a situation not unknown in Washington State even for Supreme Court Justices, as Justice Sanders could personally describe. And at the bottom of this pit, a judge could have taken a bribe, such as an innocuous fishing trip from a party with interests in the outcome of a decision before the court.

Whatever the reasons, on the face of court refusal to enforce the Constitutions is smeared the stain of abject corruption and nobody has described this situation better William Paley as incorporated into *On Civil Disobedience*, by Henry David Thoreau:

"A drab of state, a cloth-o'-silver slut,

To have her train borne up, and her soul trail in the dirt."

The constitutions represent the "will of the people" with judges the last anchor to protect those vital principles. When the anchor person throws up their hands in a tug of war contest, the Rule of Law goes over the edge. Here is an opportunity for the Panel to dig in their heels and show common people the institution will be protected against the might of the most powerful law firm in the State, the 1000+ agency headed by Attorney General Ferguson, now campaigning to be the State's next governor.

## 6.1 WHEN THEN OUTCOME IS "INEVITABLE"

When Wilson admitted in open court that the outcome of Flarity's case was "inevitable", AP-238, 262-263. That is clear proof of court prejudice. It is only inevitable because Wilson decided the case for personal or political reasons rather than by the law and precedents after determining the facts. The Panel might also note Wilson did not temper the statement with *probably* or *maybe*. It is clear that Wilson had a result in mind from the very beginning and was eager to dismiss for any convenient reason in complete disregard of the case facts. Recognition of the case facts might given caution to further State abuse of core rights. That possibility has now been lost, with the Div. II Order blessing further abuse of core rights. And in particular, our "inviolate" right to be heard before a jury of our peers per Art. 1, Sec. 21.

Abuse of CR12 by improper dismissal, is also destruction of the 1<sup>st</sup> Amendment Right to be heard as was recently examined by unanimous SCOTUS in *NRA v. Vullo*, 22-842, which was presented to the Panel as a Supplemental, **AP-272.** But the Panel seemed to have ignored the directions, which would have been brought to their attention in greater detail had our Motion for oral hearing been granted. Per this Panel's June 4, 2020 letter, this is not how a *justice* system must operate (emphasis for justice is original).

<sup>7</sup> Again, the power of oral arguments is that the truth sometimes escapes even from experts determined to keep it hidden. Div. II here follows the advice of many good criminal attorneys. "Take no chances. Say nothing."

## 6.2 RETRIBUTION IS CRIMINAL CONDUCT BY RCW 42.41.

This "shameful decision" impacts not only residents of Washington State, but every resident in the United States, and also injures every person seeking justice around the globe. Every tyrant can point to this decision as an example of democratic futility even in a self proclaimed "progressive" democracy, such as Washington State.

Tyrants are presented with a path to seize the high ground. At least their neutered courts do not hide their policy of retribution for protesters as Div. II seeks here. They are proud to exact revenge, and Washington State should move to advertise court support of the "power of the sovereign" and contempt for core rights as Art. 1, Sec. 29 makes mandatory unless abridged by "express words."

Wilson and Div. II have established a new floor for retribution against people whom put faith in the plain wording of their Constitutions. A recent Atlantic article is exactly on point as presented to the Commissioner for No. 1031491. *DEMOCRACY IS LOSING THE PROPAGANDA WAR*, Anne Applebaum, The Atlantic, June 2024:

"not free" [countries]...teach their people to be cynical and passive, apathetic and afraid, because there is no better world to build. Their goal is to persuade their own people to stay out of politics....Our state may be corrupt, but everyone else is corrupt too (emphasis original).

...the so called fire hose of falsehoods—ultimately produces not courage, but nihilism.

<sup>8</sup> *Community Ass'n v. Kitsap County*, 652 P.2d 383, 33 Wash. App. 108 (Ct. App. 1982).

<sup>9</sup> Such as Art. 1, Sec. 32

Fear, cynicism, nihilism, and apathy, coupled with disgust and disdain for democracy: This is the formula that modern autocrats...sell to their citizens..."

The ease at which noble ideals are corrupted into "worthless paper" is described by Neil Gorsuch, *A Republic, If You Can Keep It*, p40. Without correction, Div. II has rendered the Constitution into similar worthless paper. Is there any other possible conclusion? The CR11 violation was examined in detail in Flarity's Motion for Reconsideration. **AP-234.** 

In contrast, Police official Covey, a white man, received over \$22 MILLION in taxpayer funds for retaliation, a point made to the Commissioner. **AP-245.** Covey was not beaten nearly to death like Zamora<sup>10</sup> and Valentine.<sup>11</sup> He was not arrested after being roused from sleeping in his car like Palla Sum,<sup>12</sup> nor after refusing to show a transit pass like Meredith.<sup>13</sup> The contrast is stark.

SCOTUS recently gave caution that courts should carefully examine official retaliation. Justice Jackson, *NRA v. Vullo*, 22-842:

...the First Amendment prohibits government officials from subjecting individuals to 'retaliatory actions' after the fact...

<sup>10</sup> State v. Zamora, 512 P.3d 512, 199 Was h.2D 698 (2022), "I've got one resisting."

<sup>11</sup> State v. Valentine, 935 P.2d 1294, 132 Wash. 2D 1 (1997)

<sup>12</sup> Sum v.State, 199 Wash.2d 627, 653, 644, 511 P.3d 92 (2022)

<sup>13</sup> *State v. Meredith*, 525 P.3d 584, 1 Wash. 3d 262 (2023).

...the government has crossed a line from persuasion to coercion...the threat of invoking legal sanctions and other means of coercion, persuasion, and intimidation...who is being coerced to do what, and why....

On remand, the parties and lower courts should consider the censorship and retaliation theories independently...

Flarity does not have the research tools of the AG, but we dare to suggest that not a single government official has spent even a few hours in jail for violating this plainly stated criminal code. We appear here as a *private attorney general* to check official abuse. As a first instance, retaliation by courts on people acting in the public interest enters into the dimension of RCW 42.41. This retaliation goes beyond judicial misconduct. Div. II projects their "shameful decision" into the taint of criminal perpetrators.

## **6.3 PROTECTION OF CORE RIGHTS BY** 42 USC § 1983

*Trucking*<sup>15</sup> plainly states that administrative agencies are liable for violating 42 USC § 1983. Flarity relies on the Panel's "plain words." Just after *Trucking*, SCOTUS addressed the widespread prejudice in State courts for local officials in *Knick v.Twp. of Scott*, 139 S. Ct. 2162, 204 L.Ed.2d 558 (2019):

<sup>14</sup> *Miotke v. Spokane*, 678 P.2d 803, 101 Wash. 2D 307 (1984). Also, *Townsend v. Holman Consulting Corp.*, 929 F.2d 1358 (9th Cir. 1991): the bringing of meritorious lawsuits by private individuals is one way that public policies are advanced.

**<sup>15</sup>** *WASHINGTON TRUCKING v. EMPLOYMENT SEC. DEPT*, 393 P.3d 761, 188 Wash. 2D 198 (2017)

The Civil Rights Act of 1871, after all, guarantees "a federal forum for claims of unconstitutional treatment at the hands of state officials," and the settled rule is that "exhaustion of state remedies 'is *not* a prerequisite to an action under [42 U.S.C.] § 1983.

A bank robber might give the loot back, **but he still robbed** the bank.

Just after that SCOTUS in unanimous *Axon Enterprise v. FTC*, No. 21-86, insisted that State courts get their "forearms" off the scale of justice and support jury trials. Justice Kagan:

...attacks as well the combination of prosecutorial and adjudicatory functions in a single agency. The challenges are fundamental, **even existential.** 

If this right truly exists in Washington State, Flarity respectfully requests the Panel defend *Trucking* and Reverse and Remand for a jury trial.

## 6.4 PROTECTION OF ART. 1, SEC. 7 PRIVACY RIGHTS

Rights are in retreat before all courts. This loss is unique in U.S. history and the people have a right to protest. Thomas Jefferson proclaimed in the Declaration of Independence this is more than a right--but a **duty** of all citizens intent on preserving democracy. The unanimous en banc BTA in 19-105, proclaimed that Washington residents have no right to privacy by vaulting Div. III's *Vonhof*<sup>16</sup> over this Panel's *Matter of Maxfield*, 945 P.2d 196, 133 Wash. 2D 332 (1997). If the Panel refuses to defend its precedent, then Art. 1, Sec. 7, has also been rendered into "worthless paper."

**<sup>16</sup>** *State v Vonhof* 751 P2d 1221 51 WnApp 33 Wash App 1988.

In the domiciles in Washington State, approximately half the occupants are women. If the right to privacy is this easily removed from their domiciles, the right to privacy of their uterus might just as easily be removed. This degradation of a core right across the base of the citizens also flows down to the most disadvantaged citizens, such as already cited *Palla Sum*, *Zamora*, and adding *Long*<sup>17</sup> with *Jack Potter* now under review by this Panel in No.101188-1. The Panel cannot damage the people's rights on a broad basis and then dole out exceptions capaciously. The administrative branch would be justified in observing the "shadow" of the practice, rather than the plainly stated words.

# 6.5 PROTECTION OF DUE PROCESS FOR TIMELY HEARINGS

In 19-105, the BTA demanded a right to infinite delays. The BTA did not give any explanation that a three year delay in a simple real estate value assessment was necessary. The BTA directly defies Art. 1, Sec. 10:

Justice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay.

Like Flarity previously described for privacy rights, this Panel has specifically stated that officials DO NOT have a right to infinite delays. *Bosteder v. City of Renton*, 155 Wn.2d 18, 36-37, 117 P.3d 316 (2005).

<sup>17</sup> *City of Seattle v. Long*, 493 P.3d 94, 198 Wash. 2D 136 (2021)

<sup>18</sup> Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 771 P.2d 711, 112 Wash. 2d 636, 112 Wash. 636 (1989)

If the Panel refuses to enforce its precedent, that makes another section of the Constitution into "worthless paper." It also gives the public a taste of the sublime unfairness they face in Washington Courts for challenges to official misconduct of all core rights.

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