FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/9/2024 2:16 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103322-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOE PATRICK FLARITY, a marital community,

Petitioner,

v.

UNKNOWN OFFICIALS, in their official and personal capacities, STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents.

### JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION TO REVIEW 57601-5-II AMENDED

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MATTHEW KERNUTT WSBA No. 35702 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Board of Tax Appeals PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 360-586-0740 ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

### I. INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

The Respondents Department of Revenue (DOR),

Unknown State Officials, and the Board of Tax Appeals (BTA),
jointly request that this Court deny Petitioner Joe Patrick

Flarity, a marital community (the Flaritys)'s petition for review.

This is the Flaritys' fourth lawsuit regarding Pierce County's decision to revoke a preferential property tax status. In 2022, the Flaritys sought judicial review of the BTA's final decision in BTA No. 19-105, which among other things denied the Flaritys' attempt to raise issues outside the BTA's jurisdiction.

However, when the Flaritys commenced this action, they failed to properly serve their petition on the BTA or the Pierce County Assessor within the 30 days required by Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05.542(2). When a party fails to comply with this part of the APA's service requirements, dismissal is the appropriate remedy. *Sprint Spectrum, LP v. State*, 156 Wn. App. 949, 963, 235 P.3d 849 (2010); *see also, City of Seattle v. Pub. Emp. Rels. Comm'n*, 116 Wn.2d 923,

928-29, 809 P.2d 1377 (1991) (dismissal appropriate for failure to serve within 30 days under former version of APA).

Accordingly, the superior court properly dismissed the Flaritys' APA action. The superior also correctly denied the Flaritys' motion to amend as futile and ordered CR 11 sanctions for their baseless motion to stay. The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision affirming the superior court orders based on settled law and decisive facts.

Instead of attempting to address the sound analysis of the Court of Appeal's decision, the Flaritys make unsupported and speculative attacks on judicial motivation. They also seek to discuss the merits of their complaint. But nothing in Flaritys' petition meets the criteria for accepting review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition for review.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Flaritys seek review of portions of the Division II

Court of Appeals decision in *Flarity v. Unknown State* 

Officials, No 57601-5-II ("Opinion 57601-5-II"). A copy of that opinion was attached as part of the appendix to the Flaritys' Amended Petition for Review, at pages 2-10.

### III. COUNTERSTATMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the superior court properly dismissed the Flaritys' Petition for Judicial Review for failure to serve the BTA and Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer within 30 days as required by RCW 34.05.542(2)?
- 2. Whether the superior court correctly denied the Flaritys' request for leave to amend to add the Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer as a respondent where the request came more than 30 days after the final decision of the BTA?
- 3. Whether dismissal of the Flaritys' other claims was also proper as outside the scope of judicial review?
- 4. Whether dismissal of the Flaritys' other claims was nonetheless required because:
  - (a) the BTA is protected by quasi-judicial immunity?

- (b) the Flaritys were collaterally estopped from bringing claims that they unsuccessfully litigated against the State of Washington and the DOR in a prior lawsuit?
- (c) the Flaritys' claims were based on acts that occurred five years prior to the complaint and barred by statute of limitations?
- (d) the Flaritys failed to comply with the statutory requirements for seeking a property tax refund or bringing a tort claim against the state?
- 5. Whether the superior court properly exercised its discretion in sanctioning the Flaritys for moving to delay further proceedings so they could seek interlocutory review at the Court of Appeals of the superior court's decision to reschedule a motion hearing by three weeks?

#### IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Background and Other Litigation

Joe and Becky Flarity were the owners of two parcels in Pierce County, which they have since sold. CP 244. On August

31, 2017, after inspecting these two parcels, the Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer's Office (Assessor) issued a Notice of Removal of Current Use Classification and assessed additional property taxes and penalties with respect to the properties. CP 1227-33. The Assessor previously designated these parcels as farmland under RCW 84.34, which provided a favorable property tax assessment. CP 1228. The Flaritys had 60 days (until October 30, 2017) during which to file a petition to the Pierce County Board of Equalization (BOE) to review the removal notice. CP 1229, CP 1231.

On December 4, 2017, more than one month after the statutory deadline passed, the Flaritys mailed a petition to the Pierce County BOE. CP 1240-42. Citing WAC 458-14-056, the Flaritys sought a waiver of the time limitation to file with the Pierce County BOE and offered three reasons to allow a late filing: a natural disaster, a family health issue, and reliance on incorrect advice. *Id.* The Pierce County BOE denied the Flaritys' waiver request. CP 1243-44. Specifically, the BOE

rejected natural disaster as a reason to waive because "Hurricane Harvey made landfall in Texas on August 25th which was prior to the removal letter being sent, which still gave you 65 days to file the appeal timely." CP 1244. Next, the BOE rejected illness as a reason to waive because the Flaritys had mailed a different petition seeking review of the assessed value of the property on November 2, 2017. This fact indicated to the BOE that had the petition seeking review of the removal decision been sent at the same time, "it certainly would have been accepted as it would have only been 3 days past the filing deadline." *Id.* Instead, Flarity mailed the petition much later, nearly 5 weeks past the filing deadline. *Id.* Finally, the BOE rejected reliance on incorrect advice as a reason to waive because the Notice of Removal of Current Use Classification and Additional Tax Calculations sent by the Assessor on October 31, 2017, provided appeal instructions. *Id*.

The Flaritys have since filed four lawsuits arising from their dispute with Pierce County over the withdrawal of farm

status and the BOE's waiver of the statutory deadline. Each of their suits have been dismissed and each of these dismissals have been affirmed on appeal. *See Flarity v. Roberts*, No. 3:20-cv-06247-RJB, 2021 WL 719069, at \*1 (W.D. Wash. 2021), *aff'd*, 2022 WL 10382921, at \*1 (9th Cir. 2022); *Flarity v. Argonaut Ins. Co.*, No. 3:20-cv-06083-RJB, 2021 WL 1894011, at \*2 (W.D. Wash. 2021), *aff'd*, 2022 WL 10382886, at \*1 (9th Cir. 2022); *Flarity v. Argonaut Ins. Co.*, No. 21-2-06124-1 (Pierce Cnty. Super. Ct. 2021); *aff'd*, *Flarity v. Argonaut Ins. Co.*, No. 56271-5-II, 2023 WL 3959813 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 2 June 13, 2023). <sup>1</sup>

### B. The Flaritys' Fourth Action and Dismissal

In 2019, the Flaritys filed an appeal with the BTA, seeking review of the Pierce County Assessor's 2019

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A motion for discretionary review of the denial of the Flaritys' motion to the Court of Appeals to recall its mandate was recently denied by this court. *See* Ruling Denying Review, *Flarity v. Argonaut Ins. Co.*, No. 103208-1 (Wash. August 16, 2016). A motion to modify the Commissioner's ruling is currently pending.

assessment of one of the two parcels of property. In that same appeal, the Flaritys also attempted to challenge the BOE's denial of their request for an extension of time to challenge the Assessor's decision to revoke preferential property tax status. CP 503, 506-07. On August 24, 2022, the BTA issued a decision in No. 19-105, which sustained the Pierce County Assessor's assessment and rejected the Flaritys' other arguments. *See* CP 517 (holding that the Flaritys' arguments regarding the BOE were not properly before them). On September 30, 2022, the BTA denied the Flaritys' motion for reconsideration. CP 1507.

On October 11, 2022, the Flaritys filed a complaint against Vikki Smith, the former director of the DOR, John Ryser, acting director of DOR, and the State of Washington. CP 885. Notably, the DOR was not the agency or a party of record in BTA No. 19-105. CP 1507.

The Flaritys attempted to serve their new summons and complaint by emailing a "drop box link" to the "DOR

attorneys" involved in their other state court action, which at that time was on appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division 2 after the Pierce County Superior Court had dismissed it. CP 885. The Flaritys attached a copy of an electronic service agreement from that prior case, which they unilaterally altered to contain their new lawsuit information from their new Thurston County case.

The following day, the State mailed and emailed a letter to the Flaritys stating that service by emailing the summons and complaint to an Assistant Attorney General was improper and ineffective original service of process. CP 1335. The letter provided information about how to properly serve a new lawsuit against the State. *Id.* It also explained that with regard to Vikki Smith and John Ryser, "the [Attorney General's Office] does not agree to waive original service of process for individually named defendants" and that the Flaritys would need to arrange to have them personally served. *Id.* The letter also rejected Flaritys' unilateral changes to the electronic

service agreement, but explained that after the Flaritys had properly served the defendants, defendants would consider executing an electronic service agreement for the new suit. *Id*.

Two days later, the Flaritys filed an amended complaint naming unknown Washington officials as defendants in place of Smith and Ryser. CP 250. The complaint was otherwise unchanged. *Id.* In their complaint and first amended complaint, the Flaritys asserted three claims: (1) a due process violation based on the BTA's delay in issuing its final decision, (2) a claim that the BTA's due process failures amounted to constructive fraud, and (3) review of the administrative ruling in No. 19-105. CP 257-59. The Flaritys also sought declaratory judgment, damages, a refund for taxes paid on the property for 2018 through 2021, and unspecified injunctive relief. CP 271-72. However, the Flaritys did not serve either the original summons and complaint, or the amended summons and complaint on the BTA. CP 1362. Nor did the Flaritys name the Pierce County Assessor (who was the only responding party

named in the BTA adjudicative proceeding) in the complaint or serve them. CP 250, CP 816. And the Flaritys did not properly serve the Attorney General's Office until October 18, 2022. CP 1547.

On October 31, 2022, the Flaritys also filed a document in the Superior Court entitled "Notice of Electronic Service Refusal," stating that they would refuse electronic service from the State. *See* CP 1330-36. The Flaritys admitted in that document that they had not physically served any documents on any of the parties. CP 1331 ("No documents have been physically served in this case by Flarity.").

On November 3, 2022, the Flaritys filed a motion to again amend their complaint to add Pierce County as a defendant, which they noted for November 18. CP 555-591. On November 7, the State filed a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, which was noted for December 9. CP 1337-38 (calendar note), CP 1339-61 (motion). On November 17, the superior court ordered the hearing on the Flaritys' motion to amend be

continued to December 9 so the motion could be heard at the same time as the State's motion to dismiss. CP 345-46; *see* VRP at 4-5, Nov. 18, 2022 (court explaining why it moved the hearing).

In its motion to dismiss, the State argued that the Flaritys' complaint was a request for judicial review of agency action under the APA, RCW 34.05. CP 1351-52. The State also argued that because the Flaritys failed to timely and properly serve the BTA and the Pierce County Assessor, their petition for judicial review must be dismissed. CP 1348-50. The State argued that the Flaritys' remaining claims must be dismissed for several reasons, including exceeding the scope of review under the APA, collateral estoppel, quasi-judicial immunity, and failure to comply with RCW 4.92.100, which requires presentation of damages claims to the office of risk management prior to filing a complaint. CP 1352-59.

On November 23, 2022, the Flaritys filed a motion to stay the case pending appeal and noted the motion for

December 9. CP 612. In their motion to stay, the Flaritys attached a notice that they had filed with the Court of Appeals to seek review of the order continuing the hearing on their motion to amend from November 18 to December 9. CP 612-95. The State opposed the stay, argued the motion was patently frivolous and requested sanctions for responding to the motion. CP 1533-39.

On December 9, 2022, the superior court heard the motion to dismiss, motion to amend, and motion to stay the appeal. *See* VRP 3:13-10:21, Dec. 9, 2022. The superior court denied the Flaritys' motion to amend their complaint as futile because it was impossible to timely serve the BTA and Pierce County Assessor as required by the APA. VRP 34:25-35:3, Dec. 9, 2022; *see* CP 762-64 (order denying leave to amend). The superior court also denied the Flaritys' motion for a stay and found that the motion for a stay violated CR 11. VRP 30:22-31:5, Dec. 9, 2022; *see* CP 765-67 (order denying Flarity's motion for stay and granting sanctions). The superior

court-imposed sanctions against the Flaritys in the amount of \$1,775.00, which was the reasonable cost of the assistant attorney general responding to their motion for a stay. *Id.* The superior court granted the State's motion to dismiss and dismissed the Flaritys' amended complaint with prejudice. CP 834-37 (order granting dismissal); *see also* CP 831 (order denying later motion for reconsideration of order denying leave to amend). The superior court also awarded statutory attorney fees in the amount of \$200. *See* CP 832-33.

### C. The Court of Appeals Affirms Superior Court Orders

The Flaritys filed an appeal in which they sought review of several superior court orders, including the dismissal of their action, the denial of their motion to amend, and the granting of CR 11 sanctions.<sup>2</sup> On July 2, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During the pendency of the appeal, the Flaritys made numerous motions at the Court of Appeals, and in three instances sought interlocutory review, which this Court denied. *See e.g.*, Ruling Denying Review, *Flarity v. State*, No. 103149-1 (Wash. July 31, 2024) (Commissioner Ruling denying discretionary review of denial of Mrs. Flarity's motion to bifurcate appeal for mootness); Order, *Flarity v. State*, No.

an unpublished opinion affirming the three superior court orders at issue. The Flaritys then filed their petition for review, which sought review of the Court of Appeals decision to affirm dismissal and sanctions. *See* Petition to Review—57601-5-II Amended Division II's Unpublished Decision Confirming Failure to State a Claim and Assigning Sanctions (Aug. 5, 2024) (hereafter "Pet. for Review").

### V. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

### A. The Court of Appeals Decision Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Decisions

The superior court properly (1) dismissed the Flaritys' complaint, (2) denied their request for leave to amend because it was futile and (3) sanctioned the Flaritys for failing to comply with CR 11 by moving to stay the case pending their attempt to

<sup>102465-7 (</sup>Wash. March 6, 2024) (denying motion to modify commissioner's ruling denying discretionary review of the denial of the Flaritys' motion to sanction AAG Cameron Comfort); Order, *Flarity v. State*, No. 102097-0 (Wash. Nov. 8 2023) (denying motion to modify commissioner's ruling denying discretionary review of the denial of Flarity's motion to compel State to produce the administrative record of the BTA).

appeal an order rescheduling their hearing on their motion for leave to amend. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court decisions.

More specifically, to seek judicial review of an agency action, the APA requires that the agency and parties of record be identified in the petition and served within 30 days of the final decision. *See* RCW 34.05.542(2) (requiring service on agency and parties of record within 30 days of the agency's final decision); *see also* RCW 34.05.546 (requiring persons who were parties in any adjudicative proceedings be identified).

There is no dispute that when the Flaritys' sought judicial review of BTA No. 19-105, they did not properly serve the BTA (i.e., the agency) and they did not name or serve the Pierce County Assessor (i.e., the party of record) within 30 days required by RCW 34.05.542(2). Specifically, the BTA denied Flarity's motion for reconsideration on September 30, 2022. CP 1507. The Flaritys' did not serve the BTA within 30 days of September 30. CP 1362. And they did not name (or serve) the

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